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Plaintiffs bring this action challenging the New York State ijepartment of Environmental 
Conservation's ("NYSDEC") regulations of their fishing rights in designated Reservation and in 
customary fishing waters. Plaintiffs argue their fishing rights under a treaty preempt the 
challenged regulations, and the regulations interfere with their free

1

dom of religious expression in 
violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. NYSDEC and Basil Seggos, 
the NYSDEC Commissioner (collectively, "Defendants"), filed almotion to dismiss pursuant to 
Rules 12(b)(l) and 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. For the reasons stated below, 
Defendants' motion to dismiss is DENIED. 1 

BACKGROUND 

On February 21, 2018, Unkechaug Indian Nation (the "Na~ion") and Henry B. Wallace 

(collectively, "Plaintiffs") filed a complaint challenging Defendants' actions to regulate, restrict, 

and criminally prosecute Plaintiffs from fishing in their Reservatidn and customary fishing 

I 

waters. See Compl. 1 1, ECF No. 1. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory 1udgment from this Court 

that-based upon inherent native sovereignty, religious freedom '1d expression, treaties and 

federal laws-they are not subject to d~fendant NYSDEC's authJity over fishing in reservation 

lands and Unkechaug customary fishing waters. Id. I 

1 
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I 

As pleaded in the Complaint, the Nation is a federally recognized Indian Nation and is 

also legally recognized under the laws of the State of New York. See id. 12 (citing Gristede 's 
I 

Foods, Inc. v. Unkechuage Nation, 660 F. Supp. 2d 442, 469-70 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (Matsumoto, 
I 

J.)); N.Y. Indian Law§ 2. Fishing and whaling have been the Nation's "main economic engine" 
I 

for centuries. Compl. ,r,r 2, 28. Nation members also need access tq waters to gather crustacean 

and shells to make wampum for religious and cultural uses. Id. ,r,r 2, 27. Plaintiffs allege 

Defendants have subjected Plaintiffs, and specifically plaintiff Harry B. Wallace, the Chief of the 

I 

Nation, to threats and fear of criminal prosecution for exercising their right to fish on reservation 

I 

waters and in customary fishing waters. Id. 114, 20-25. Specifically, Defendants allegedly 
I 

confiscated fish and fishing equipment from Nation members and issued criminal summonses to 
I 

other Nation members for fishing on reservation lands and in Unkechaug customary fishing 
I 

waters. Id. ,r,r 22-23. Hugh Lambert Mclean, the Assistant New Yprk State Attorney General, 

allegedly threatened to criminally prosecute Chief Wallace based on the New York State 

Environmental Laws for the sale of glass eels. Id. ,r 25. 

I 

Plaintiffs assert several causes of action. First, Plaintiffs argue the state and local 

I 

regulations asserted by Defendants are preempted by federal law, and the prosecutorial threats 
I 

and actions by defendant Commissioner Seggos violate federal law, including but not limited to 
I 

25 U.S.C. § 232. 1 Id. ,r,r 34-39. Second, the Nation possesses trib~l sovereign immunity and the 

inherent authority to self-govern, which, Plaintiffs contend, shields them from state and local 
I 

regulations when acting under tribal authority in this action. Id. 1142-45. Third, Plaintiffs argue 

Defendants' state and local regulations violate Plaintiffs' freedom I of religious expression under 

1 25 U.S.C. § 232 provides in relevant part: "The State of New York shall haveljurisdiction over offenses committed 
by or against Indians on Indian reservations within the State of New York ... Provided, That nothing contained in 
this section shall be construed to deprive any Indian tribe, band, or community j or members thereof, hunting and 
fishing rights as guaranteed them by agreement, treaty, or custom .... " 
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the First Amendment because the regulations restrict their ability to fish and obtain shells needed 

for their religious practices. Id 1146-53. Fourth and finally, Plaintitfs allege Defendants' 

enforcement of state and local regulations interfering with their fishipg rights violates the May 

24, 1676 treaty entered between the Nation and Governor Andros, ptoviding that the Nation 
I 

members "are at liberty and may freely whale or fish for or with Clulistians or by themselves and 

I 

dispose of their effects as they think[] good .... " Id. 11 55-56. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief 
I 

and a permanent injunction against attempts by Defendants to impose fishing restrictions on 

Plaintiffs and to criminally prosecute them under state and local enJironmental laws. Id. at 11-

12. 

On February 28, 2019, Defendants filed their fully briefed rrlotion to dismiss this action, 

and Plaintiffs filed their opposition thereto. See ECF Nos. 27-29. 16 support of their motion, 

Defendants argue: (1) the Complaint fails to state any plausible clai~s; (2) Plaintiffs' action is 

I 

barred by the Eleventh Amendment of the United States Constitution; and (3) certain claims are 

I 

not justiciable. See Def. Mem. in Support of Mot. to Dismiss ("Def. Mem. "), ECF No. 28-1. In 

response, Plaintiffs argue they all have standing, each claim is justibiable and arises from a "case 

or controversy," and the Eleventh Amendment does not bar their cl1aims pursuant to Ex Parte 

I 

Young. See Pis. Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss ("Pl. Mem."), ECF No. 21. The Court held oral 

I 

argument on the motion on April 15, 2019. At the oral argument, the Court issued an oral ruling 

denying Defendants' motion to dismiss. The Court now provides l written decision and order 

setting forth the reasons for its ruling. 
I 

LEGAL STANDARDS I 

An action may be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(l) of the Federal Rules Civil Procedure for 

lack of subject matter jurisdiction "when the district court lacks thl statutory or constitutional 

I 

3 ! 
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power to adjudicate" the case. Doyle v. Midland Credit Mgmt., Inc., 722 F.3d 78, 80 (2d Cir. 

2013) ( citation omitted). Plaintiffs bear the burden of showing that subject matter jurisdiction 

exists. MLC Fishing, Inc. v. Velez, 667 F.3d 140, 141 (2d Cir. 2011). In reviewing a motion to 
I 

dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b )(I), ,e Court must accept all 

material factual allegations in the complaint as true. See At/. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Balfour Maclaine 
I 

I 

Int 'l Ltd., 968 F.2d 196, 198 (2d Cir. 1992); see also Cortlandt St. R~covery Corp. v. He/las 

Telecomm., S.A.R.L, 790 F.3d 411,417 (2d Cir. 2015) ("In assessing the plaintifrs assertion of 

standing, we accept as true all material allegations of the complaint[S' (internal quotation marks 

omitted)). The district court "may also rely on evidence outside the complaint." Cortlandt, 190 

F.3d at 417. 

When ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim for which relief can be 
I 

! 

granted under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure~ courts should construe the 

complaint "liberally, accepting all factual allegations ... as true, and drawing all reasonable 

inferences in the plaintiffs favor." Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 152 (2d Cir. 
I 

2002). So long as a claim is "plausible on its face," dismissal is inappropriate. Sharkey v. 

Quarantillo, 541 F.3d 75, 92 (2d Cir. 2008) (citing Bell At/. Corp. v Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 

(2007)). "A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads frtual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable fdr the misconduct alleged," 
I 
I 

I 

but "[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory 

statements, do not suffice." Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). A complaint must be 

dismissed where, as a matter oflaw, "the allegations in [the] compll int, however true, could not 

raise a claim of entitlement to relief." Twomblv, 550 U.S. at 558. I considering a motion to 

dismiss, the Court must accept all of the non-movant's factual alle ations as true and draw· all 

4 
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reasonable inferences in the non-movant's favor. Id. at 555. However, the Court is "not bound 

to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation."i Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 
I 

(internal quotation marks omitted). 

ANALYSIS 

I. The Eleventh Amendment 

The parties do not dispute defendant NYSDEC is a state agercy, and defendant Seggos is 

a state official. The Eleventh Amendment provides: j 

I 

The Judicial power of the United States shall not be construed to extend to any suit 
in law or equity, commenced or prosecuted against one of the United States by 
Citizens of another State, or by Citizens or Subjects 1f any Foreign State. 

U.S. Const. amend. XI. As such, "[a] State is thus immune from suits in federal court brought by 

its own citizens and such immunity extends to officers acting on behalf of the State." Soloviev v. 
I 

I . 

Goldstein, 104 F. Supp. 3d 232,243 (E.D.N.Y. 2015) (Kuntz, J.) (internal citation and quotation 

marks omitted). State agencies considered "arms of the state" are also entitled to sovereign 

I 

immunity under the Eleventh Amendment. McGinty v. New York, 251 F.3d 84, 95-96 (2d Cir. 
I 

2001 ). Sovereign immunity applies to suits against states brought by Indian tribes. See Seminole 
! 

Tribe v. Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 55 (1996). 

Eleventh Amendment immunity exists unless: ( 1) a state waives immunity; (2) Congress 

clearly abrogates state sovereign immunity; or (3) the suit is agains, a state official seeking 

prospective relief. See Va. Office for Protection & Advocacy v. Stewart, 563 U.S. 247, 254-55 

(2011); Lapides v. Bd. of Regents, 535 U.S. 613, 619 (2002); Fitzpatrick v. Bitzer, 427, U.S. 445, 

455-56 (1976). Consent to suit is not lightly inferred, and federal 1urts strictly construe statutes 

allegedly providing consent to suit. See Edelman v. Jordan, 415 U t 651, 673-74 ( 197 4 ); Great 

N. Life Ins. Co. v. Read, 322 U.S. 47, 53-54 (1944). A state waives,immunity by, for example, 
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subjecting itself to suit in federal court-it does not waive immunity by consenting to suit in its 
i 

own courts. Lapides, 535 U.S. at 618-20. 

I 

Under the Ex Parte Young exception, "the Eleventh Amendr1ent does not bar a suit 

against a state official when that suit seeks ... prospective injunctife relief." Seminole Tribe, 

517 U.S. at 55 (citing Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908)). The Ex Parle Young fiction exists 
I 

because "when a federal court commands a state official to do nothing more than refrain from 
I . 

violating federal law, he is not the State for sovereign-immunity purposes." Va. Office, 563 U.S. 
I 

at 254. Moreover, it is not necessary for the state official to have alllegedly violated the law 
I 

before being sued for the exception to apply since the relief sought is prospective. See, e.g., Ex 
I 

Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908) (upholding injunction against st~te attorney general 

I 

preventing him from enforcing a railroad rate-reduction law that prqvided severe penalties for 

noncompliance). This exception "applies only to prospective relief,1
1 

does not permit judgments 

against state officers declaring that they violated federal law in the past, and has no application in 
I 

suits against the States and their agencies, which are barred regardless of the relief sought." P.R. 
I 

Aqueduct & Sewer Auth. v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 146 (1993) (citation omitted). A 
I 

court must "conduct a straightforward inquiry into whether [the] corpplaint alleges an ongoing 
I 

violation of federal law and seeks relief properly characterized as prpspective" when determining 

I 

whether Ex Parle Young applies. Verizon Md., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm 'n of Md., 535 U.S. 635, 

645 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
I 

Defendants argue no exception to sovereign immunity appli+ to the instant action, and 

therefore the Eleventh Amendment bars Plaintiffs' claims in their entirety. See Def. Mem. at 10-
1 

12; Def. Reply Mem. of Law in Further Support of Mot. to Dismiss ("Def. Reply") at 5-7, ECF 

No. 29. First, Defendants contend the Eleventh Amendment bars anf claim against NYSDEC as 

6 
I 

I 
I 
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a state agency. Def. Mem. at 10. Second, they argue Ex Parle Young does not apply to 

defendant Seggos because there is no evidence Plaintiffs can '"reasonably expect to encounter"' 
I 

enforcement of the regulations at issue in the future. Id. at 10-11 ( quoting Riley v. Cuomo, l 7-

CV-1631, 2018 WL 1832929, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 16, 2018) (Spa~, J.)). In Defendants' 
I 

reading of the Complaint, "there are no factual allegations demonstrating that Plaintiffs are 

I 

actively planning to fish for glass eels and/or harvest crustaceans .. i· . [I]f Plaintiffs do not intend 

to do these things, there is no reasonable expectation that they will ~ncounter enforcement of' 
I 

- I 

the regulations at issue. Id. at 11. There also are no allegations de~endant Seggos himself 

threatened to prosecute Plaintiffs for fishing, according to Defendrurts. Id. at 11-12. In their 

reply to Plaintiffs' memorandum, Defendants claim because Plaintiffs do not dispute 
I 

Defendants' Eleventh Amendment defense, "these arguments ... must be deemed conceded." 
I 

Def. Reply at 2. Despite this contention, Defendants respond to Plwntiffs waiver argument by 
I 

I 

claiming Defendants did not waive immunity because they did not invoke federal jurisdiction. 
I 

Id. at 6-7. 
I 

In response, Plaintiffs first argue defendant NYSDEC waivep sovereign immunity when 

I 

it "used coercive power of arrest and threatened to charge ChiefWapace with felony 

I 

prosecution." Pl. Mem. at 22-23 (citing Native Am. Mohegans v. Uiited States, 184 F. Supp. 2d 

198,201 (D. Conn. 2002)). Second, in Plaintiffs' view, the reliefthty seek-"recognition of 

[their] rights to fish and depose of the fish consistent with their cust6ms"-is permissible under 
I 

Ex Parte Young. Id. at 18. With respect to defendant Seggos, Plaintiffs allege the NYSDEC 
I 

confiscated property of the Nation and threatened to criminally prosJcute plaintiff Wallace 
I 

"under the direction of Seggos." Pl. Mem. at 10-11. Plaintiffs also argue "Seggos directed 

continuing criminal prosecution and confiscation of eels from the Pl~intiffs in violation of the 

I 

7 I 
I 

I 

I 
I 
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I 

Plaintiffs['] sovereign rights as an Indian Nation and under the And~os Treaty." Id. at 18. 
I 

Plaintiffs cite several instances in which Seggos allegedly directed <j>ther officials to violate the 

rights of Plaintiffs. See id. at 19. 

Defendant Seggos is a proper party to this action under Ex JJiarte Young. Plaintiffs have 

plausibly alleged there are threats of violations of federal law given la past practice of threats of 

I 

criminal prosecution and recent statements suggesting this practice iill continue in the future. 

See Compl. ,r,r 20-27, 31. In response to Defendants' contention th~re is no harm Plaintiffs "can 

reasonably expect to encounter" in the future, Plaintiffs point to the 
1

Ietter from defendant 
I 

NYSDEC's General Counsel, Thomas S. Berkman, as evidence of future actions that would 
I 

violate Plaintiffs' treaty rights. See Pl. Mem. at 11; see also ComplJ 131. Moreover, the relief 
I 

they seek is clearly prospective: Plaintiffs do not seek a judgment holding Defendants violated 
I 

federal law in the past but instead seek a declaration from this Court shielding them from future 

threats of prosecution in violation of their treaty rights. See P.R. Aq~educt & Sewer Auth. v. 
I 

Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 146 (1993). "The prayer for injunctive relief-that state 
I 

officials be restrained from enforcing an order in contravention of c6ntrolling federal law-

I 

clearly satisfies [the Supreme Court's] 'straightforward inquiry."' ~erizon Md., Inc., 535 U.S. at 

645. 

I 

The Court also finds rather illogical Defendants' contention that "there are no factual 
I 

allegations demonstrating that Plaintiffs are actively planning to fishl for glass eels and/or harvest 

crustaceans." Def. Mem. at 11. The Complaint explicitly states Natl on members "always 

I 
maintained the right to fish that included the harvesting of eels and sf a crustaceans for the shells 

to make wampum .... The traditional methods of creating wampum ~e complex and requires 

many skills that were passed down from generation to generation by the Unkechaug and are 

8 
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used today to make the sacred wampum." Comp I. ,I 3 ( emphasis added); see also Declaration of 

Harry B. Wallace, Ex. 1 at 3, ECF No. 31-1 ("The Nation continue5110 fish in violation of the 

NYSDEC laws and shall continue to exercise our rights to fish despite the NYSDEC laws and 
. I 

I 

criminal prosecution."). If seeking declaratory relief regarding theiif ability to fish were not 
I 

I 

enough to reflect their intent to fish in the future, Plaintiffs' repeated statements of their intent to 

actively fish for glass eels and harvest crustaceans certainly are. 

The Court also concludes defendant NYSDEC is a proper party to this action at this stage 

in the litigation. Although it is not entirely clear that NYSDEC has explicitly waived immunity 

from suit, the Complaint alleges the Assistant New York State Attorney General Hugh Lambert 
I 

McLean threatened to criminally prosecute plaintiff Wallace "unles:s the Nation would file an 

action in Federal Court asserting its rights." Compl. ,I 25. Accepting this statement as true at the 

motion-to-dismiss stage, see Cortlandt, 790 F .3d at 41 7, defendant NYSDEC may have 
I 

"voluntarily" appeared in federal court, thereby consenting to fedet jurisdiction. See Lapides, 

535 U.S. at 619-20 (detailing the "general principle" that a State consents to a federal suit when 
! 

I 

"it voluntarily invoked the federal court's jurisdiction" such that th~ Eleventh Amendment does 
I 
I 

not apply). The Court is conscious, however, that concluding a state agency has consented to 
! 

suit in federal court is not lightly inferred. See Edelman, 415 U.S. kt 673-74. Should Plaintiffs 

be unable to identify additional evidence of Defendants invoking rlderal jurisdiction, the Court 

I 

very well may conclude defendant NYSDEC is not a proper party to the action. 
I 

II. Standing and Justiciability 

I 

I 

I 

I 

Defendants also argue certain claims raised by Plaintiffs sh 1 uld fail on justiciability 

grounds, and Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring their religiou expression claim. 

9 
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Because federal courts may hear only actual cases or controversies, litigants must "satisfy 

the 'irreducible constitutional minimum' of Article III standing" before their claims may be 

properly heard in federal court. Strubel v. Comenity Bank, 842 F.3d 1181, 187 (2d Cir. 2016) 

(quoting Lujan v. Deft. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992)). To establish standing, a 

plaintiff must have first suffered an "injury in fact, ... an invasion of a legally protected interest 

which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or 

hypothetical." Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (internal quotation marks an1 citations omitted); see also 

Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1547-48 (2016). Second, a plaintiff must show the 

injury is "fairly traceable" to the defendant's challenged action. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 

(alterations omitted). Third, a plaintiff must show "the injury will ~e redressed by a favorable 

decision." Id at 561 (internal quotation marks omitted). When a plaintiff raises a 

preenforcement challenge, a plaintiff need not "await and undergo 1 criminal prosecution." 

Babbitt v. United Farm Workers Nat'/ Union, 442 U.S. 289,298 (1979). Instead, "a plaintiff has 

standing to make a preenforcement challenge when fear of criminal) prosecution ... is not 

imaginary or wholly speculative." Cayuga Nation v. Tanner, 8241.3d 321, 331 (2d Cir. 2016) 

(internal quotation marks omitted). 

A claim must also be ripe for judicial review. "To be justic able, a cause of action must 

be ripe-it must present a real, substantial controversy, not a mere hypothetical question." Nat '/ 

Org.for Marriage, Inc. v. Walsh, 714 F.3d 682,687 (2d Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks 

omitted). Ripeness is intended to avoid the '"premature adjudicatior" of abstract disagreements. 

Id (internal quotation marks omitted). If, on the other hand, subser1 uent events make it clear the 

allegedly wrongful behavior "'could not reasonably be expected to ecur," the case may be 

I 
mooted. Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., Inc., 5r8 U.S. 167, 189 (2000) 

10 
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(internal quotation marks omitted). Challenged conduct that is "capable of repetition yet evading 
I 

review" will not be deemed moot if the plaintiff possessed standing at the time the action 
I 

commenced. Id. at 190-91. 

Defendants argue Plaintiffs' challenges to the regulation with respect to on-reservation 

I 

fishing are moot because N.Y. Environmental Conservation Law§ 11-0707(8) permits hunting, 

I 

fishing, and trapping within their reservation. Def. Mem. at 13. Defendants also argue 

Plaintiffs' First Amendment claim-to the extent Plaintiffs argue obrendants "are seeking to 
I 

impose additional regulations on the harvest of crustaceans"-is nol ripe for the Court's review. 

I 

Id. at 14. They further argue Plaintiffs lack standing to raise their F~rst Amendment claim 

because they do not identify the Nation's religious practices or inditiduals as adherents of the 

Nation's faith. Id.; see also Def. Reply at 4. With respect to plaint,ff Wallace, Defendants argue 

he does not have standing because "the Complaint fails to actually allege that he is an adherent 
I 

of the Unkechaug faith .... " Def. Mem. at 15. Because the Natio~ is a "non-sentient entity" 

that cannot have religious beliefs, it similarly does not have standi~g to pursue a religious 

interference claim in Defendants' view. Id. at 15 & n.9. 

In response, Plaintiffs argue they have standing to bring thtr claims because they have 

shown a genuine threat of prosecution by Defendants that establishes an injury-in-fact. Pl. Mem. 
I 

at 12-13. Following the standard set forth in Wolfson v. Brammer,
1

616 F.3d 1045, 1058 (9th Cir. 

I 

2010), Plaintiffs contend they have: (I) articulated a concrete plan 
1
to violate the laws in question 

because Plaintiffs continue to follow their own ancestral regulatioJs for fishing; (2) defendant 

NYSDEC has confiscated property and communicated a specific tLeat to initiate criminal 

proceedings; and (3) there is a history of past prosecution and enfJcement under the challenged 

11 
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I 

laws. Id. at 13-17 (citing Wolfson, 616 F.3d at 1058). Accordingly, ~n Plaintiffs' view, they 
I 

have established an injury-in-fact for purposes of Article III standing. 
I 

In response to Defendants' contention their First Amendment claim is either not ripe or 

fails to state a plausible claim, Plaintiffs cite to a policy statement frbm defendant NYSDEC, 

which states: "The department recognizes that hunting, fishing and ~athering are activities of 
I 

cultural and spiritual significance to the Indian Nations." Pl. Mem. r1 23-24 ( citing Ex. 5 at 5, 

ECF No. 31-36). This statement, in Plaintiffs' view, is in direct conflict with Defendants' 
I 

argument. Id. In addition, Plaintiffs provide further detail on their teligious and spiritual beliefs, 
I 

explaining "the Unkechaug people have an obligation to maintain their traditions and spiritual 
I 

beliefs based upon their relationship to the natural wodd .... Their [Tribal symbol emphasizes the 

power of the natural world that has sustained their people and their 
1

way of life." Id. at 24. 

The Court agrees Plaintiffs have established standing to brimg their preenforcement 

challenges against Defendants. Plaintiffs' intent to fish in Reservation and customary fishing · 

I 

waters is evident from their Complaint, such that they possess "concrete plans" that could be 

! 
subject to criminal prosecution by Defendants, taking the allegations of the Complaint as true at 

I 

this stage. Plaintiffs do not aver "mere some day intentions to co°lmit an act," but instead have 

articulated a concrete plan, including fishing in waters they considkr customary under their treaty 

rights, which would violate the regulations in question. Jones v. sbhneiderman, 101 F. Supp. 3d 

I 

283,291 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (Wood, J.) (internal quotation marks o,itted) (citing Wolfson, 616 

F.3d at 1058); see also Nat 'I Org. for Marriage, 714 F.3d at 687; fkokomish Indian Tribe, 994 F. 

Supp. 2d 1168, 1182 (W.D. Wash. 2014) ("[T]he fact that Skokoiish Indian Tribe members 

have been prosecuted while exercising their Treaty hunting rights in the past supports their claim 

that the alleged threat of prosecution today is genuine.")). Moreler, in addition to citing past 

12 
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criminal summonses and seizure of property from 2014 and 2016, Plhintiffs also cite in their 

I 

Complaint a 2018 article discussing defendant NYSDEC's position ~at the fishing regulations 

! 

apply to any water outside reservation boundaries-therefore including Plaintiffs' customary 
I 

fishing waters. See Compl. 1 20. As such, Plaintiffs have alleged s1fficient facts to show they 

can "reasonably expect to encounter" a genuine threat of criminal p~osecution in the future to 

confer standing. See Cayuga Nation, 824 F .3d at 331. 

The Court further concludes Plaintiffs have standing to bring their religious expression 
I 

claim, and this claim is ripe for review. First, the Complaint makes/several references to the 

continuing religious and cultural practices of Plaintiffs that would, i~terfere with the regulations 

at issue. See, e.g., Comp!. ,r,r 27, 32, 47-53. At this stage, the coJ must accept these 
I 

allegations as true, and the Court finds Plaintiffs' religious beliefs and practices to be sincere. 
! 

Second, the Nation may bring a religious expression claim on behalf of its members. See Lyng v. 
I 

Nw. Indian Cemetery Protective Ass 'n, 485 U.S. 439, 441-42, 447 (1988) (reaching the merits of 
I 

a religious expression claim on behalf of members of three American Indian tribes); Havasupai 
I 

Tribe v. United States, 752 F. Supp. 1471, 1484-85 (D. Ariz. 1990) (same). Defendants cite no 
I 

case law to support their assertion the Nation does not have standiJg in this regard. Finally, on 
I 

the face of the Complaint, Plaintiffs clearly allege they have a treaiy right to fish in waters within 

their Reservation as well as in customary fishing waters, which is 1 material issue disputed in 

this action. The regulation Defendants cite, Law§ 11-0707(8), do,~s not moot the Complaint 

because it makes no reference to customary fishing waters. I 

III. Failure to State a Claim Under Rule 12(b)(6) 

Defendants argue Plaintiffs fail to allege sufficient factual /detail in their Complaint. 

Specifically, they argue the Complaint is generally factually spars:e, fails to describe adequately 

I 

13 
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"the scope of the geographical area" of"customary waters,'' and also/ fails to sufficiently describe 

the religious activities in question. Def. Mem. at 7-8. As such, Deferdants argue Plaintiffs fail 

to state a claim, and the Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety. Id. at 9. 
I 

Plaintiffs aver they have a right under the Andros Treaty of 1676 to "freely whale and 

fish for or with Christians or by themselves and dispose of their effe}ts as they think[] good 

according to Custom[.]" Pl. Mem. at 6 (citing Andros Papers, 1674f 1676 Dec. JFS Ex. 2, ECF 

No. 31-2). Because the treaty does not limit their right to fish to the/reservation, in Plaintiffs' 

view, their right to fish should extend to what the Nation considers t~ be its customary waters, as 

they seek a declaration of their fishing rights under the language ofJhe treaty. Id. Indeed, 

Plaintiffs allege in their Complaint the location of the specific shellJ traditionally used to make 
I 

wampum is "[t]he customary Unkechaug fishing waters in Poospatuck Bay, off the reservation 
I 

land." Compl. ,r 32. 
I 

At this time, Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged Defendants are enforcing regulations and 

threatening criminal prosecutions that conflict with their treaty rights. Under federal law, "the 
! 

language of [ an Indian] treaty should be understood as bearing the meaning that the [Indian tribe] 

I 

understood it to have" at the time it was entered. Wash. St. Dep 't of Licens. v. Cougar Den, Inc., 

139 S. Ct. 1000, 1011-12 (2019); see also Washington v. Wash. St. /commercial Passenger 

Fishing Vessel Ass 'n, 443 U.S. 658, 675-76 (1979) (noting the rulef that treaties are interpreted in 

light of "the intention of the parties" and "in the sense in which [the treaty's words] would 

naturally be understood by the Indians" (internal quotation marks jmitted)). As such, the 

Complaint plausibly alleges Plaintiffs' treaty rights preempt Defen~ants' challenged regulations. 

Accord Tulee v. Washington, 315 U.S. 68 I, 685 ( 194 2) (holding tithing rights reserved in a 

treaty preempted the State's application ofa fishing licensing feel a Yakima fisherman). 
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Defendants do not even directly address Plaintiffs' claim regarding treaty rights and in fact state 

they are not disputing its enforceability "in the instant motion" but i~stead will challenge the 
! 

"document" if the Complaint is not dismissed. See Def. Reply at 1-2 & n.2. 

I 

The Court also concludes Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged a rrst Amendment claim. 

Plaintiffs explain "the Unkechaug people have an obligation to maintain their traditions and 

spiritual beliefs based upon their relationship to the natural world ... I. Their Tribal symbol 
I 

emphasizes the power of the natural world that has sustained their p~ople and their way of 

life .... " Pl. Mem. at 24-25. As previously discussed, the Complaint makes several references 
I 

to the continuing religious and cultural practices of Plaintiffs that wJuld interfere with the 

challenged regulations. See, e.g., Comp!. 1127, 32, 47-53. Acceptibg these factual allegations 

as true, the Court is satisfied Plaintiffs have alleged a legally cogniJble burden upon their 
I 

religious expression; accordingly, their First Amendment claim surJives Defendants' motion 

under Rule 12(b)(6). 

CONCLUSION 

I 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants' motion to dismiss is 

Court is directed to terminate the motion pending at ECF No. 28. 

Dated: April 18, 2019 
Brooklyn, New York 
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s/WFK
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